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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

This case presents important issues surrounding the trial court’s rejection of 

a lesser-offense instruction, including whether the issue was preserved when trial 

counsel failed to identify supporting evidence, whether it should have been granted 

on the merits, and whether the court of appeals properly reversed the conviction 

without analyzing the state of the record.  Oral argument will be helpful to resolve 

these issues. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A jury convicted Williams for the indicted offense of continuously 

trafficking a child for more than 30 days.  The court of appeals reversed his 

judgment of conviction due to the trial court’s refusal to instruct the jury on the 

lesser-included offense of human trafficking. 

STATEMENT OF THE PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Issac Williams was charged by indictment with the offense of continuously 

trafficking a child for more than 30 days (C.R. at 5).  See TEX. PENAL CODE §§ 

20A.03(a) & 43.05(a)(2).  A jury found Williams guilty (VII R.R. at 67).  The trial 

court pronounced sentence on December 4, 2017 (VIII R.R. at 144) and certified 

his right to appeal (C.R. at 388).  On April 10, the court of appeals reversed the 

trial court’s judgment of conviction due to jury charge error.  Williams v. State, No. 

04-17-00815-CR, ___ S.W.3d ___, 2019 Tex. App. LEXIS 2872, 2019 WL 

1548600 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 2019, pet. filed).  Pursuant to this Court’s order 

on May 10, 2019, this petition is timely if filed by June 10, 2019.    
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GROUNDS FOR REVIEW 

Ground One: Did Williams preserve his request for the lesser-included 
offense of human trafficking when he failed to identify any 
evidence supporting this request and denied committing any 
offense? 

Ground Two: Did the court of appeals err by concluding that the lesser-
included offense of human trafficking was a rational alternative 
to continuous human trafficking?    

Ground Three: Did the court of appeals err by automatically reversing 
Williams’ conviction rather than applying the standard required 
by Almanza?  



WILLIAMS V. STATE, No. PD-0477-19 – State’s Petition for Discretionary Review 
 

 

3 
 

ARGUMENT 

Summary of the Trial 

In December of 2013, Williams met B.F., the minor alleged in the 

indictment, and solicited her to be a prostitute (III R.R. 38–49; State’s Ex. 11).  

Williams, at *2.  Williams took provocative pictures of B.F. and posted them on 

the website backpage.com (III R.R. at 51–53).  Id. at *3–4.  During this time, 

Williams introduced B.F. to Deborah Cooper, also known as Kandy or Ameia (III 

R.R. at 49).  Id.  The backpage.com ads featured Cooper as “Kandy” and B.F. as 

“Amber” and ran from December 2013 until August 2014 (State’s Ex. 1, Vol. 9.1 

at 21–Vol. 9.13 at 293).  Id. at 4, 7.  Most of the ads were invoiced to “Kandy,” 

however, some of the ads from July 20 through August 5, 2014 were invoiced to 

“Issac Williams.”  Id. at 7.  Williams drove B.F. to different cities along the 

Interstate 35 corridor so that she could earn money as a prostitute (III R.R. at 71–

72).  Williams kept most of the money (III R.R. at 73–75).     

While B.F. was being prostituted by Williams, she was also under the 

supervision of a Bell County District Court for juvenile delinquency and the 

subject of a directive to apprehend (IV R.R. at 101, Court’s Ex. 1, Vo. 9.1 at 11–

17; State’s Ex. 2, Vol. 9.1 at 18–20).   

Meanwhile, investigators with the Department of Public Safety were 

perusing backpage.com looking for ads that seemingly featured minors (III R.R. at 
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208–10).  Id. at 7.  Agent Shawn Hallett concluded that “Amber” was B.F. and that 

she was a minor (III R.R. at 212).  Id.  Using the contact information in the ad, he 

called “Kandy” (Cooper) and arranged a session with the girls at a hotel in Killeen 

(III R.R. at 216–20).  Id. at 7–8.  At the sheduled time, a team of DPS agents 

apprehended Cooper and located B.F. in a hotel room with multiple cell phones 

and a box of condoms (III R.R. at 220–25).  Id. at 8.  Agent Stormey Jackson 

interviewed B.F., who revealed the details of Cooper and Williams’ trafficking 

scheme (III R.R. at 225).  Id.   

As B.F. was leaving the hotel with the agents, Williams drove into the 

parking lot (III R.R. at 226).  Id.  B.F. became visibly upset when she directed the 

agents’ attention to Williams (III R.R. at 227).  Williams was arrested and agents 

found multiple cell phones, gift cards, and condoms on his person and in his car 

(III R.R. at 233–35).  Id. at 9. 

One of the phones found in Williams’ car (device 6) had a history of activity 

on backpage.com going back to May 2014 (III R.R. at 235; State’s Ex. 11, 9.15 

R.R. at 45; State’s Ex. 11c, 9.15 R.R. at 67–142).  A gift card in Williams’ 

possession was linked to purchases for ads on backpage.com and hotel room 

rentals (IV R.R. at 52–53). 

Williams testified in his defense.  He denied knowledge that Cooper and 

B.F. were engaging in prostitution (VI R.R. at 210, 225).  He denied any 
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responsibility for causing B.F. to engage in prostitution (VI R.R. at 168–169).  He 

offered a slew of excuses as to why incriminating evidence was found on his phone 

or in his car (VI R.R. at 130, 228, 252–53).  Id. at 13–15.  At no time did Williams 

directly admit or infer that he only trafficked B.F. for less than 30 days.   

The jury found Williams guilty of the charged offense and sentenced him to 

fifty years confinement (VIII R.R. at 144).      

Ground One: Did Williams preserve his request for the lesser-included 
offense of human trafficking when he failed to identify any 
evidence supporting this request and denied committing any 
offense? 

Absent a request, a trial court has no independent duty to instruct a jury on a 

lesser-included offense.  Tolbert v. State, 306 S.W.3d 776, 781 (Tex. Crim. App. 

2010).  How thorough must this request be?  The present case begs the question.1 

After the conclusion of testimony, the trial court conferred with the parties 

about the jury charge and the following exchange took place: 

                                           
1   As an initial matter, the State asks this Court to exercise its discretion and consider error 
preservation for the first time on discretionary review.  First, the State was the prevailing party in 
the trail court and this Court has allowed the prevailing party more leeway to raise additional 
matters in a petition for discretionary review.  Rhodes v. State, 240 S.W.3d 882, 887 n.9 (Tex. 
Crim. App. 2007).  Second, error preservation is a systemic requirement and may be raised for 
the first time in this Court.  Wilson v. State, 311 S.W.3d 452, 474 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010) (op. on 
reh’g).   
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TRIAL COUNSEL: In this charge, we are asking that the lesser-
includeds be placed in the charge.  If we go 
through the definition of the charge, there are 
elements that we talked about in the informal 
charge conference: Human trafficking, 
compelling prostitution, prostitution, and then, 
there was evidence of a simple assault.  So we 
believe that there is sufficient evidence for the 
jury to look at any one of those theories and 
find a lesser-included, and we ask for those 
charges to be -- the lesser-included -- 

THE COURT: Is there -- was there any evidence elicited -- and 
refresh my memory -- that if he’s guilty of any 
offense, he’s guilty of the lesser only and not 
the greater? 

TRIAL COUNSEL:  I believe there was in substance. 

THE COURT:    Do -- 

TRIAL COUNSEL:  Okay. And then, the Court makes the ruling.  It 
is what it is. 

THE COURT:    Okay. That will be denied. 

(VII R.R. at 7–8).  Williams’ counsel and the trial court then moved on to a 

separate issue in the charge. 

In order to preserve error for appellate review, “all the party has to do to 

avoid the forfeiture of a complaint on appeal is to let the trial judge know what he 

wants, why he thinks he is entitled to it, and to do so clearly enough for the judge 

to understand him at a time when the trial court is in a proper position to do 

something about it.”  Layton v. State, 280 S.W.3d 235, 239 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009) 

(quoting Lankston v. State, 827 S.W.2d 907, 909 (Tex. Crim. App. 1992)).  To be 
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entitled to an instruction on a lesser-included offense, the record must contain 

some evidence that the defendant is guilty of only that offense.  Bullock v. State, 

509 S.W.3d 921, 924–25 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016).  It stands to reason that in order 

to properly preserve review for the denial of an instruction on a lesser-included 

offense, the appealing party must articulate in the objection or request the evidence 

on which he relies, especially if the trial court specifically asks him to.  After all, 

the primary reason for error preservation is to give the trial judge an opportunity to 

cure the objection.  Zillender v. State, 557 S.W.2d 515, 517 (Tex. Crim. App. 

1977).       

Not only did Williams’ counsel not identify the evidence relied on in his 

brief or by the court of appeals in its opinion, he refused to identify any evidence 

that would support the submission of a lesser-included offense instruction—let 

alone four different “lesser-included” instructions.  The trial court had most 

recently heard testimony from Williams that amounted to a complete denial that he 

committed any offense at all (VI R.R. at 105–06).  Williams denied knowing that 

Cooper or B.F. were engaging in prostitution (VI R.R. at 210, 225).  He denied 

ever using the backpage.com website (VI R.R. at 210).  This testimony, no doubt 

fresh on the trial court’s memory at the time of Williams’ request, amounts to a 

denial and not evidence that embraces a lesser offense.   
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Williams did not remind the trial court of the dates his name appeared on the 

backpage.com invoices, nor did he direct the trial judge to the text message 

contained in Defendant’s Exhibit 7, nor did he point out that he had testified that 

his phone contained the history of backpage.com activity only because Cooper had 

“merged” her phone with his.  While this evidence was relied on by Williams and 

the court of appeals, it was not identified before the trial court.    In its place, 

Williams referred to the “substance” of the testimony in general and noted that “it 

is what it is” (VII R.R. at 7–8).  

Given that the second prong of the lesser-included offense test requires an 

examination of evidence; shouldn’t a defendant be required to give some recount 

of that evidence if asked by the trial court?  See Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 924–25 

(second prong requires examination of evidence that defendant is guilty only of 

lesser-included offense); Layton, 280 S.W.3d at 239 (preservation of error requires 

party to sufficiently explain why they are entitled to a ruling). 

Accordingly, the State asks this Court to grant review and determine 

whether a defendant requesting an instruction on a lesser-included offense must, 

when requested, direct the trial court’s attention to the specific evidence that 

supports his request in order to preserve the matter for review on appeal.  
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Ground Two: Did the court of appeals err by concluding that the lesser-
included offense of human trafficking was a rational alternative 
to continuous human trafficking? 

Under the second prong of the lesser-included test, a defendant must 

establish that the record contains evidence that the defendant is guilty only of a 

lesser-included offense.  Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 924–25.  The evidence relied on 

must be a “valid rational alternative to the charged offense.”  Sweed v. State, 351 

S.W.3d 63, 68 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011) (quoting Segundo v. State, 270 S.W.3d 79, 

90–91 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008)); Cavazos v. State, 382 S.W.3d 377, 385 (Tex. 

Crim. App. 2012).  This Court has frequently noted that the standard may be 

satisfied “if some evidence refutes or negates other evidence establishing the 

greater offense or if the evidence presented is subject to different interpretations.”  

Sweed, 351 S.W.3d at 68; Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 925.  And “it is not enough that 

the jury may disbelieve crucial evidence pertaining to the greater offense; there 

must be some evidence directly germane to a lesser-included offense for the 

factfinder to consider before an instruction on a lesser included offense is 

warranted.”  Bignall v. State, 887 S.W.2d 21, 24 (Tex. Crim. App. 1994).   

Williams’ unequivocally denied criminal responsibility all together (VI R.R. 

at 168–169).  In fact, he persistently denied any knowledge that Cooper and B.F. 

were engaging in prostitution (VI R.R. at 132–33, 168, 179, 188, 210, 225).  
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The court of appeals concluded that Williams should have been given an 

instruction for human trafficking based on the following evidence:  

(1) Backpage.com invoices showed that his name only appeared on 
dates that were less than 30 days apart.  Williams, at *21–22;  

(2) Cooper sent B.F. a text message saying “make sure Issac 
doesn’t see you.”  This message was sent prior to Williams’ 
name appearing in the backpage.com invoices.  Id. at *22;   

(3) Williams testified that his phone was “merged” with Cooper’s 
phone just prior to his arrest, which explained why the police 
found a history of backpage.com activity much longer than 30 
days on his phone.  Id. at *22–23. 

From this evidence, the court of appeals concluded that a rational jury could have 

concluded that Williams “trafficked” B.F. for less than 30 days and that Cooper 

was responsible for the remaining time period going back to December 2013.  Id. 

at *23.    

But did it?  The backpage.com invoices only show whose name was entered 

on the ad purchase.  The invoices do not establish which individual entered the 

name.  Nor are they directly germane to whether Williams “trafficked” B.F.  In 

order to “traffic” another person, the actor must “transport, entice, recruit, harbor, 

provide, or otherwise obtain another person by any means.”  TEX. PENAL CODE § 

20A.01(4).  The invoices do not establish that Williams “transported” B.F. at all, 

let alone within a period of 30 days.  This fact was established by other evidence 

and not refuted by the ads (III R.R. at 71–72).  The invoices do not establish who 
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enticed or recruited B.F., but merely what occurred after she was enticed and 

recruited.  The testimony shows that she was enticed and recruited in December of 

2013 by Williams and the invoices do not refute this (III R.R. at 47–51).  Nor do 

the invoices establish who harbored or provided for B.F. while she was a 

prostitute, or how she was “otherwise obtained.”  Instead, the ads show that B.F. 

was regularly advertised as a prostitute and the persons likely responsible for those 

ads were Cooper and Williams.   

Even the court of appeals opinion suggests that the ads alone were not 

enough to establish “rational alternative” to the charged offense because the court 

also relied on the text message between B.F. and Cooper indicating that they did 

not want Williams to be aware of their activity on July 8, 2014 (V R.R. at 50; Vol. 

9.16 at 18).  However, this is one isolated text message in the midst of a 

voluminous record and the message does not identify what activity the two women 

are attempting to conceal.  Given the entire record, it is far more rational to 

conclude that they were attempting to conceal something from a controlling pimp 

rather than an unsuspecting friend.  But assuming that they were concealing 

prostitution activity from Williams in that instance, that single text message does 

not support a rational conclusion that Williams inexplicably went from being 

wholly innocent to being a human trafficker sometime between July 8 and July 20, 

2014.       
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Finally, the court of appeals used portions of Williams’ unequivocal denial 

as support for its conclusion that he was entitled an instruction on a lesser offense.  

When asked why his phone had an extensive internet history of backpage.com, 

Williams testified that his and Kandy’s phones were “merged” and that he did not 

access that website (VI R.R. at 228, 252–53).  Contrary to the court of appeals’ 

analysis, this evidence amounts to a denial and does not embrace the lesser-

included offense.   

The only case from this Court where the evidentiary basis for an instruction 

on a lesser-included offense was scrapped together with evidence from the 

prosecution and the defense is Bullock.  In that recent case this Court held that a 

defendant charged with theft of a vehicle was entitled to an instruction on a lesser-

included attempt, even though Bullock denied attempting to steal the vehicle.  

Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 929.  Similar to the instant case, this Court reasoned that 

the jury could have rationally arrived at its conclusion by accepting some portions 

of the State’s evidence and some portions of Bullock’s denial.  Id. at 928–29.   

Bullock, however, is distinguishable from the instant case in two important 

ways: First, Bullock admitted to thievish intent as well as entering the vehicle, 

while Williams, on the other hand, persistently denied any knowledge that B.F. 

was committing acts of prostitution.  Second, although he admitted to entering the 

truck, Bullock denied placing his feet on the pedals or his hand on the ignition.  
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Thus, Bullock offered testimony directly germane to the lesser attempted theft.  Id. 

at 929.  Again, Williams’ testimony did not embrace any criminal conduct; it 

categorically refuted responsibility.  Thus, Bullock’s reasoning and holding should 

not extend to the present case.2  

Finally, in concluding that Williams was entitled to an instruction on the 

lesser-included offense of human trafficking, the court of appeals analysis appears 

to turn on the mere possibility that a jury could have drawn this conclusion.  

Specifically, the court of appeals noted that “the likelihood of the jury actually 

making these conclusions is immaterial to the issue of whether Williams was 

entitled to an instruction on the lesser-included offense of trafficking of persons.”  

Williams, at *23.  The court of appeals supported this analysis by noting that a jury 

is free to disbelieve testimony.  Id. (citing Bignall, 887 S.W.2d at 24; Booth v. 

State, 679 S.W.2d 498, 500 (Tex. Crim. App. 1984)).   This analysis is not 

consistent with the second prong of the lesser-included offense test which requires 

                                           
2   Other courts of appeals addressing similar claims have required appellants to be more 
specific in their showing that they are guilty of only the lesser-included offense.  Casanova v. 
State, No. 13-14-00145-CR, 2016 Tex. App. LEXIS 2725, at *13–16 (Tex. App.—Corpus 
Christi Mar. 17, 2016, no pet.) (mem. op., not designated for publication) (assault was not a 
rational alternative to continuous assault because Casanova denied committing any assaults and 
evidence did not establish that only one assault occurred); Coleman v. State, No. 11-11-00039-
CR, Tex. App. LEXIS 2006, at *32–34 (Tex. App.—Eastland Feb. 28, 2013, no pet.) (mem. op. 
not designated for publication) (Coleman was not entitled to a lesser-included offense because 
the evidence did not distinguish between which acts of sexual assault occurred and which ones 
did not).   
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the evidence amount to a rational alternative that the defendant is guilty only of the 

lesser offense.   

Whether a jury is free to believe or disbelieve testimony is a separate 

question as to whether the lesser-included offense amounts to a valid, rational 

alternative to the charged offense.  For example, in Cavazos, this Court determined 

that Cavazos’ statement that he did not mean to shoot anyone did not entitle him to 

a lesser-included offense of manslaughter in a murder trial.  Cavazos, 382 S.W.3d 

at 385–86.  This Court reasoned that Cavazos’ admission, without more, could not 

provide the basis for a rational alternative to murder.  Id.   

The reasoning and outcome of Cavazos teaches that, while a reviewing court 

should not assign weight or credibility to evidence, it must address whether the 

evidence, taken at face value, is enough to support a rational conclusion that the 

person committed only the lesser.  Without assessing his credibility, this Court 

arrived at the obvious conclusion that Cavazos’ statement simply wasn’t enough 

within the context of all the other evidence pointing to murder.  Thus, a reviewing 

court may not conclude that any given testimony amounts to a “rational 

alternative” simply on the basis that it is prohibited from assessing the credibility 

of said testimony.  In this case, Williams’ persistent and absolute denial in the face 

of incriminating evidence from B.F. and the evidence found on his person and in 

his car should have been dispositive of the lesser-included analysis.   
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Critically missing from this trial record is any direct or circumstantial 

evidence explaining why or how Williams went from being an innocent and 

ignorant man to participating in a human trafficking enterprise for less than thirty 

days.  Missing along with this explanation is rationality—that is, it is irrational to 

believe that Williams did some of the trafficking, but not all of it.  The effect of the 

court of appeals published opinion could be significant.  This Court has 

traditionally placed a burden on defendants to produce evidence that they are guilty 

of only a lesser-included offense.  However, this Court has also admonished that 

this burden may not be satisfied by merely undermining the State’s evidence.  This 

opinion erodes this long-standing jurisprudence. 

Ground Three: The court of appeals erred by automatically reversing Williams’ 
conviction rather than applying the standard required by 
Almanza. 

The court of appeals reversed Williams’ conviction without any review of 

the evidence or the argument of counsel or any other relevant information.  

Williams, at *23–24.  The court of appeals ostensibly analyzed the harm “under the 

standard enunciated in Almanza v. State, 686 S.W.2d 157, 171 (Tex. Crim. App. 

1985).”  Williams, at *23.  However, Almanza explicitly requires an “evidentiary 

review” of the record as part of its prescribed harm analysis.  Almanza, 686 S.W.2d 

at 174.  The court of appeals, however, did not analyze the evidence or any other 



WILLIAMS V. STATE, No. PD-0477-19 – State’s Petition for Discretionary Review 
 

 

16 
 

relevant portion of the record.  Instead, it followed the lead of Saunders v. State, 

913 S.W.2d 564 (Tex. Crim. App. 1995), and reversed Williams’ conviction 

simply because “the jury charge permitted the jury to either convict Williams of 

continuous trafficking of persons or to acquit him altogether.”  Williams, at *24. 

Saunders’ holding does not mandate this outcome; rather, the court of 

appeals followed a passage of dicta in Saunders: 

In each of these cases we essentially recognized that “some” harm 
occurs because the jury was not permitted to fulfill its role as 
factfinder to resolve the factual dispute whether the defendant 
committed the greater or lesser offense.  That the evidence the 
defendant was “guilty only” of the lesser included offense may not 
have been compelling was no more a consideration in our analysis of 
harm than it was in deciding that the trial court erred in failing to give 
the instruction in the first place.  Given the rationale of Beck [v. 
Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980)], this is hardly an inappropriate 
criterion for assessing harm. 

Saunders, 913 S.W.2d at 571.  The reasoning of this passage should not trump 

Almanza’s standard.  To the extent there is any conflict, this Court should reaffirm 

Almanza.  

First, the reasoning in Saunders relies on Beck v. Alabama.  However, the 

Supreme Court has previously distinguished Beck and noted that a significant 

factor in that decision was how “the death penalty was automatically tied to 

conviction.”  Hopkins v. Reeves, 524 U.S. 88, 98 (1998).  Thus, Beck’s 

applicability to non-death trials is uncertain at best.    
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Second, the whole point of a harm analysis is to prevent unwarranted 

reversals in cases where a jury was not likely influenced by the failure to include a 

proposed instruction.  In other words, that the evidence “may not have been 

compelling,” Saunders, 913 S.W.2d at 571, in the context of any given trial is the 

ultimate consideration under Almanza.  See Almanza, 686 S.W.2d at 174 (“We 

hold that finding error in the court’s charge to the jury begins—not ends—the 

inquiry; the next step is to make an evidentiary review along the lines of that 

described above in Davis, supra, as well as a review of any other part of the record 

as a whole which may illuminate the actual, not just theoretical, harm to the 

accused.”).  In the court of appeals’ published opinion, the finding of error begins 

and ends the analysis without any examination of how or whether the charge error 

contributed to the conviction.     

Along this line, in Braughton v. State, 569 S.W.3d 592 (Tex. Crim. App. 

2018), this Court recently analyzed whether the failure to include a lesser-included 

offense instruction was harmless.  This Court reviewed the charge as a whole, the 

evidence, and the arguments from counsel and concluded that the error was 

harmless under a “some harm” standard.  Id. at 613–617.  Yes, Braughton is 

distinguishable from the present case in that Braughton’s instructions involved 

additional lesser-included offenses and other defensive issues that were all rejected 

by the jury, id. at 613–15; however, this Court did not treat any particular closing 
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argument, or charge paragraph, or testimony of a given witness as dispositive of 

the analysis.  Thus, unlike the dicta from Saunders cited by the court of appeals, 

Braughton is more faithful to Almanza’s mandate and the court of appeals should 

have followed it in the present case.  Because the court of appeals did not follow 

this analysis, the State requests review.   

Conclusion  

Williams persistently denied committing a crime before the jury.  When 

asked by the trial judge to identify the evidentiary basis for his requested lesser-

included offense instructions, he refused to offer a coherent explanation.  

Nevertheless, the court of appeals found a “rational alternative” to the charged 

offense by parsing together some of the State’s evidence with portions of 

Williams’ persistent denial.  The court of appeals then reversed the conviction 

without any review of the evidence under Almanza.  Because each of these errors 

in isolation resulted in a wrongful reversal (preservation, merits, harm), the State 

respectfully asks this Court to grant review.        

  



WILLIAMS V. STATE, No. PD-0477-19 – State’s Petition for Discretionary Review 
 

 

19 
 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE PREMISES CONSIDERED, the Petitioner-Appellee State 

respectfully requests that this Court grant discretionary review of the opinion and 

judgment of the court of appeals. 

Respectfully submitted, 

JOE D. GONZALES 
Criminal District Attorney 
Bexar County, Texas 

/s/ Nathan E. Morey  
NATHAN E. MOREY 
Assistant Criminal District Attorney 
State Bar No. 24074756 
101 West Nueva, Seventh Floor 
San Antonio, Texas 78205 
Voice: (210) 335-1546 
Email: nathan.morey@bexar.org 
Attorneys for the State of Texas 

mailto:nathan.morey@bexar.org


WILLIAMS V. STATE, No. PD-0477-19 – State’s Petition for Discretionary Review 
 

 

20 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Nathan E. Morey, assistant district attorney for Bexar County, Texas, 

certify that a copy of the foregoing petition has been delivered by email to Dayna 

L. Jones and the Office of the State Prosecuting Attorney on June 10, 2019 in 

accordance with Rules 6.3(a), 9.5(b), and 68.11 of the Texas Rules of Appellate 

Procedure. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

I, Nathan E. Morey, certify that, pursuant to Texas Rules of Appellate 

Procedure 9.4(i)(2)(D) and 9.4(i)(3), the above response, excluding the caption, 

identity of parties and counsel, statement regarding oral argument, table of 

contents, index of authorities, statement of the case, statement of issues presented, 

statement of jurisdiction, statement of procedural history, signature, proof of 

service, certification, certificate of compliance, and appendix, contains 4,222 

words according to the “word count” feature of Microsoft Office. 

/s/ Nathan E. Morey  
NATHAN E. MOREY 
Assistant Criminal District Attorney 
State Bar No. 24074756 
101 West Nueva, Suite 370 
San Antonio, Texas 78205 
Voice: (210) 335-2414 
Fax: (210) 335-2436 
Email: nathan.morey@bexar.org 
Attorney for the State of Texas 

cc:  
DAYNA L. JONES    
Attorney at Law  
State Bar No. 24049450  
Email: daynaj33@gmail.com   
Attorney for the Defendant/Appellee 

STACEY SOULE 
State Prosecuting Attorney 
State Bar No. 24031632 
Email: Stacey.Soule@SPA.texas.gov 
 

 

mailto:nathan.morey@bexar.org
mailto:daynaj33@gmail.com
mailto:Stacey.Soule@SPA.texas.gov


WILLIAMS V. STATE, No. PD-0477-19 – State’s Petition for Discretionary Review 
 

 

A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
(Opinion of the Court of Appeals) 



 

Fourth Court of Appeals 
San Antonio, Texas 

 
OPINION 

 
No. 04-17-00815-CR 

 
Issac WILLIAMS, 

Appellant 
 

v. 
 

The STATE of Texas, 
Appellee 

 
From the 187th Judicial District Court, Bexar County, Texas 

Trial Court No. 2014CR8370B 
Honorable Joey Contreras, Judge Presiding 

 
Opinion by:  Liza A. Rodriguez, Justice 
 
Sitting:  Sandee Bryan Marion, Chief Justice 
  Patricia O. Alvarez, Justice 
  Liza A. Rodriguez, Justice 
 
Delivered and Filed: April 10, 2019 
 
REVERSED AND REMANDED 
 
 After a jury trial, Issac Williams was found guilty of continuous trafficking of persons and 

was sentenced to fifty years of imprisonment. On appeal, he brings twenty-three issues. Because 

we hold the trial court erred in denying his request for a lesser-included instruction on human 

trafficking of persons, we reverse the judgment of the trial court and remand the cause for a new 

trial. 
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BACKGROUND 

 Williams was accused of trafficking B.F., a minor, during a period that was more than 

thirty days in duration. During the guilt/innocence portion of trial, the following witnesses 

testified: the complainant B.F.; Sergeant John Elizarde; Agent Shawn Hallett; Christopher Hill; 

Agent Johnny Hirst; Sergeant Stormye Jackson; Laurie Smith, and Williams.  

 At trial, B.F. testified about her home life, meeting Williams, and how she engaged in 

prostitution with Williams and a woman named Deborah Ameia Cooper. As a teenager, B.F. did 

not have a stable home life. She and her mother “argued a lot, and so those arguments sometimes 

turn[ed] into scruffles [sic], and sometimes, [her mother] would kick [B.F.] out.” When B.F. was 

thirteen years old, she lived in Maryland1 with her mother and younger brother. According to B.F., 

while the family was living in Maryland, they were “homeless for a good while,” “on the street 

homeless.” B.F. explained,  

I had to basically have sex for money, so we could get food because we didn’t have 
any money at all. So, it – it wasn’t something that I wanted to do, but I needed to 
feed [my younger brother] because he’s, you know, he’s sick, and he had the CMV 
virus. He’s deaf; he’s autistic; and it takes a lot to take care of a person like that, 
and I always felt like I had to help. So, I did that for my mom, even though she 
didn’t have any money. 

When asked on cross-examination who suggested to her at thirteen years old that she should 

prostitute herself for her family, B.F. was adamant that “[n]o one suggested it.” She testified she 

thought of it all herself.  

 According to B.F., when she was fifteen years old, she met Williams on social media– 

specifically on a website called Tagged. Williams was in his late twenties. B.F. testified she and 

Williams messaged each other for about six to seven months before they met in person in 

                                                 
1B.F. and the family later moved to Killeen, Texas. 
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December 20132 at Lions Park in Killeen, Texas. The park was within walking distance from 

where she lived with her mother. B.F. testified she and her mother had gotten into an argument, 

and her mother had “kicked her out” of the apartment. According to B.F., she and Williams talked 

for about an hour in his Cadillac. Williams then began to ask B.F. about her past sexual 

experiences, and B.F. told him about prostituting herself in Maryland:  

[H]e just kept saying he would buy me stuff, that he can get me—he can get me 
money, you know, so I could have my own money, so I could have my own money, 
so I can do what—basically, what I wanted to do. And, you know, “Your mom’s 
not taking care of you. Now, why would she, you know, kick you out? I can give 
you basically something better than she had. . . . He kind of, like I say, sugarcoated 
to have sex for money, but it wasn’t just blatant, “Okay. Do you want to have sex 
for money?” It was more persuasive, kind of, sort of, I guess I can say. 

B.F. testified she and Williams then had sex in the car, and Williams later took her back to a hotel. 

B.F. testified, “[T]hat’s when the actual and real conversation came up of what I was actually 

going to be doing.” On his mobile phone, Williams pulled up the website Backpage and navigated 

to the “adults” and then to the “escorts” section. B.F. testified Williams explained the entire process 

of placing Backpage ads to find customers and how B.F. could get started. When asked how this 

made her feel, B.F. replied, 

It made me feel happy, but I was confused because, like, okay, I did this before; but 
at that time, I didn’t know what an escort was. I thought it was, you know, the 
people who like, you know, walk people like that out of a club or, you know, like 
a police officer, they escort you around, not a prostitute. I don’t know. 

According to B.F., Williams said she would keep some of the money she made. However, “over 

time, [B.F.] realized that [she] got none of it, that he kept all of it.” 

 B.F. testified Williams then introduced her to a twenty-year-old woman, whom Williams 

called “Kandy.” During the trial, this woman is referred to by many names, including “Ameia,” 

                                                 
2 B.F.’s testimony is not consistent on the issue of her age at the time she first met Williams in person. She is clear, 
however, that she first met Williams in person in December 2013. As her birthday is March 19, 1997, she was sixteen 
years old when she first met Williams in person.  
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“Mia,” “Deborah,” and “Kandy.” Her legal name is Deborah Ameia Cooper. According to B.F., 

because Williams called the woman “Kandy,” she also used the name “Kandy.” After this first 

meeting with Kandy, B.F. accompanied Williams and Kandy to Wal-Mart so Williams could buy 

B.F. some “cute underwear.” When they all returned to the hotel, Williams took pictures of B.F. 

and Kandy in their underwear. He then created an advertisement on Backpage with the pictures. 

B.F. testified about the process of posting Backpage ads: 

[W]hat you do is you first get a gift card. It’s a Vanilla gift card. And to post a page 
on Backpage, it’s about $12. But the thing about it is, is you’re competing with over 
50,000 girls from all different countries, states, cities, so you constantly have to 
keep posting an ad to get it to the top because you have to get the first three pages 
in order for someone to call you, which is basically the client. And then, you just 
proceed from there. 

 The Backpage ads that were introduced as exhibits at trial look similar. They all show the 

email address of krobin209@yahoo.com. They all include pictures of B.F. and Kandy. After the 

pictures, there is a message. Sometimes the message is from “Amber” (B.F. used this name). 

Sometimes the message is from “Kandy.” Whether the message claims to be from Amber or 

Kandy, the text is the same: 3 

Hi, Im Kandy.!!! [or “Hi, Im Amber!”] Come enjoy yourself in a more upscale 
atmosphere. If you like my pictures, you will love me in person. I love to have a 
good time.. Some come have some fun with me :) you wont be disappointed! I am 
Native American, Blk & White. More like the Girl Next Door. Thank you! 2 GIRL 
SPECIAL!! 
50 qk 
80 hh 
120 hr 
**PLEASE TEXT OR EMAIL** AND MAKE SURE U SAY UR FROM 
BACKPAGE OR NO REPLY *NO CALLS* krobin209@yahoo.com   
254-245-2663 KANDY 
254-393-5060 AMBER 
IN/ OUT CALL NOW!! 
Poster’s age: 20 

                                                 
3 The message from the ad is quoted verbatim with grammatical and typographical errors.  
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 B.F. explained that “qk” meant ten minutes, “hh” meant a half hour, and “hr” meant an 

hour. Thus, the charges were $50 for ten minutes, $80 for thirty minutes, and $120 for an hour. 

According to B.F., they traveled from Killeen to Austin to San Antonio, and Williams set the prices 

depending on which city they were in. Williams also set a goal of $600 per day for B.F. and $800 

per day for Kandy. B.F. testified she and Kandy would stay in a hotel room while Williams either 

waited in his Cadillac or stayed in his own hotel room. B.F. would communicate with Williams by 

text. After B.F. talked to a client and the client agreed to a service, B.F. would text Williams:  

I would say a QK, which he knows is quickie for $50, and then, he’ll reply back. 
And then, the client—I would go get the client, and I would bring them upstairs, 
and I would text him “I,” which means inside, which means the client is inside the 
room with me, and I’m about to get the money. And that basically lets him know, 
you now, time by time what I’m doing. Once I’m done, once I’ve got the money, I 
would text W, and then, he would text C or H. “C” meant coming up, which means 
he’s coming up to the room, or he’ll text “H” was – which is here I come, you know; 
I’m about to come up to the room. 

B.F. testified the customers never saw Williams. Kandy would either remain in the room “if the 

client was okay with it,” or “step outside the room and go down the hall, but she had to stay close 

just in case she had a client.” “And we would kind of swap back and forth.”  

 According to B.F., she began working with Williams and Kandy the week after she first 

met Williams in person (i.e. December 2013). They all lived in Williams’s apartment on Winkler 

Avenue in Killeen, which was across the street from B.F.’s high school and about a five-to-ten-

minute walk from her mother’s apartment. They worked every day except Sunday, because on 

Sundays they went to church.4  

 At the time she left home to move in with Williams and Kandy, B.F. was on juvenile 

probation “for stealing out of a car.” B.F. testified she was “supposed to be in the house before 

7:00 p.m.” and “check in” with her probation officer every week. However, once she started 

                                                 
4 B.F. testified the only exception to this general rule was when they had not made enough money during the week. 
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working with Williams and Kandy, and was always out of town, she stopped making her weekly 

appointments with her probation officer.  

 On August 19, 2014, Williams, B.F., and Kandy were all arrested at a hotel in Killeen, 

Texas. B.F. testified,  

Mia [Kandy] had told me she was texting a client, that he was coming by, so I said 
okay. I was going to go downstairs and get me something to snack on because I 
was a little hungry. After I got my snack, I came back upstairs, and Mia, she was to 
go get something to snack on and, you know, get something to eat because we were 
hungry. And I believe we actually didn’t have any more TV dinners, so she went 
down. And I was actually about to light a cigarette, and I kept sitting there thinking, 
“Wow, she’s taking a really long time,” and she walks pretty fast. So, I just kept 
sitting there. And just as I was about to light my cigarette, the door opens. And I’m 
thinking it’s her, so I’m not paying attention, and it’s police officers. And they’re 
saying, “Are you [B.F.]?” And, immediately, I freeze, and I’m looking. They just 
kept saying it, “Are you [B.F.]?” And I said, “Yes.” And they said, “Okay. Well, 
we’ve been looking for you for a really long time,” and they said, “Are you okay?” 
I said, “Yes.” And they said, “Is he here?” I said, “No.” I said, “Who” – and you 
know, I already knew who they were talking about, but I was really mostly just in 
shock because they were pointing guns at me, but I know it – it wasn’t, you know, 
like that. After that, they had handcuffed me and took me downstairs where I had 
saw Kandy sitting [in] a chair, and they were talking to me. I forgot about what. 
And then, just as they were sitting there talking to me, I see Issac [Williams] pull 
up. But at first, I knew he was coming. I’d seen his car. But first, he pulled up to 
the side door and then to the front entrance of the hotel. And immediately, I start 
freaking out because he’s really big on not telling the police, the feds anything about 
what we’re doing. He told me, “If you get caught, deny everything because if you 
get caught, it’s a misdemeanor for probation. So, if you get caught, you go to jail, I 
will bail you out, and then, we’ll just keep going.” And so, when I had seen him, I 
told them—I was like, “You got to move me somewhere else.” I was saying, “You 
got to move me somewhere else because if he sees me, I’m going to be in like big 
ass trouble.” And they were like, “Okay. We’re going to move you somewhere 
else.” And that’s when they had arrested him in front of the hotel.  

B.F. testified she was arrested because she had a warrant for her juvenile probation violations. 

After her arrest, she talked with Sergeant Stormye Jackson, an investigator with the Special 

Investigations Unit of the Attorney General’s office. B.F. told Sergeant Jackson about Kandy’s 

and Williams’s roles.5 

                                                 
5 “Kandy” a/k/a Deborah Ameia Cooper entered into a plea-bargain agreement with the State and was placed on 
community supervision. She failed to report to her probation officer, and at the time of trial, was a fugitive. 
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 Agent Shawn Hallett, a special agent with the Texas Department of Public Safety’s 

Criminal Investigations Division, testified that he was part of an investigation seeking to find 

juvenile victims of human trafficking. He began his investigation by reviewing ads on Backpage 

and looking for images of people who appeared to be minors. Once he found an image of a person 

he believed to be a minor, he would try to identify the person using phone numbers, social media, 

and other databases to which he had access. During his investigation, he found one of the ads 

featuring “Kandy” and “Amber,” and believed the images depicted a minor. He then ran the phone 

numbers contained in the ad through every database, including Facebook and other law 

enforcement databases. He was able to link one of the numbers in the ad to a Facebook account 

associated with B.F., who he discovered was a juvenile.    

 A subpoena was then prepared and sent to Backpage for the email on the ad, 

krobin209@yahoo.com. In response to the subpoena, Backpage produced over 3,000 pages of ads 

and invoices related to krobin209@yahoo.com. The dates on the ads range from December 9, 2013 

to August 14, 2014. On all these ads, the email associated with the Backpage account is 

krobin209@yahoo.com. On almost all the invoices associated with the ads, the account person 

listed is “kandy” at a fake address (123 jake st) in Killeen, Texas. However, some of the invoices 

list “Issac Williams” at William’s real address of 1309 Winkler Ave., Killeen, Texas. Williams’s 

name appears on these invoices on the following dates: July 20, 2014, July 21, 2014, July 27, 2014, 

July 30, 2014, August 2, 2014, August 3, 2014, August 4, 2014, and August 5, 2014. At trial, every 

document produced by Backpage was admitted in evidence as State’s Exhibit 1 over defense 

counsel’s objection. 

 After obtaining the documents from Backpage, Agent Hallett testified he set up an 

undercover operation. On August 14, 2014, he contacted by text one of the phone numbers listed 

on the ad (“Kandy (254) 245-2663”) and tried to set a date for Monday, August 18, 2014. However, 
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he did not receive a response to his text until the evening of August 18th. According to Agent 

Hallett, “Kandy” agreed by text to a date on the following day. Agent Hallett requested that both 

girls be present for the date. On the afternoon of August 19, 2014, Agent Hallett texted “Kandy” 

and, through text messages, was led to a hotel in Killeen, Texas. Deborah Ameia Cooper, otherwise 

known as “Kandy,” let Agent Hallett in through a side door to the hotel. As he was following 

Kandy up a stairwell, Sergeant John Elizarde took her into custody. Agent Hallett then went to 

Kandy’s hotel room and saw the door propped open. He announced “police,” opened the door, and 

saw B.F. Agent Hallett testified he recognized B.F. from the ads and called out her name. After 

B.F. responded, he entered the room. Because he knew there was an outstanding juvenile warrant 

for B.F., he took her into custody at about 2:00 p.m. He then passed B.F. to Stormye Jackson, an 

investigator with the Attorney General’s Office.  

 According to Sergeant Jackson, she obtained basic information from B.F., such as her age, 

date of birth, what she had been doing at the hotel, and who else had been involved. B.F. gave the 

investigators Williams’s name and described his Cadillac.  

 Agent Hallett testified that the hotel room was registered to Deborah Ameia Cooper, 

otherwise known as “Kandy.” They found three cell phones in the room and a box of condoms. 

According to Agent Hallett, when everyone had finished their respective duties at the hotel, they 

started to escort B.F. out: 

And as we’re walking out the front door, [B.F.], for lack of a better term, has a 
complete meltdown, trying to – basically, almost falling to the ground. You could 
tell that it was a very fearful thing for her as she began to say, “That’s him.”6 

Agent Hallett looked up and saw a Cadillac that matched B.F.’s description of Williams’s car. 

Agent Hallett and a couple of other agents went to the parking lot. Agent Hallett recognized the 

                                                 
6 All the law enforcement officers present testified similarly. Sergeant Jackson testified B.F. “started hyperventilating” 
and having a “panic attack” while she was saying, “That’s him. That’s him.”  
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driver as Issac Williams. Agent Hallett testified that as Williams saw the officers come out of the 

hotel, he backed out of a parking spot and was attempting to maneuver in the parking lot. Agent 

Hallett believed Williams was attempting to leave, so he and the other officers stopped Williams’s 

car. Agent Hallett placed Williams under arrest and searched his person and vehicle. In the car, he 

found four cell phones, boxes of condoms, and multiple gift cards. Agent Hallett testified he made 

the inventory of what had been seized at 4:20 p.m. He was later able to link the gift cards to the 

Backpage ads posted by krobin209@yahoo.com.   

 Sergeant John Elizarde, an investigator with the Attorney General’s Office, testified to the 

same facts as Agent Hallett with regard to the Backpage investigation, the process under which 

they found the ads in question, how they identified B.F. in the ads through Facebook, how they 

subpoenaed Backpage for the ads related to the krobin209@yahoo.com email, and the sting 

operation on August 19, 2014. He added that they linked “Amber” in the Backpage ad to B.F. by 

putting the phone number listed for “Amber,” (254) 393-5060, into Facebook. Once they tracked 

down B.F.’s identity through her Facebook page, they determined she was “a runaway out of 

Killeen” and had been reported missing in May 2014 by her mother. He also testified that “Issac” 

on Williams’s driver’s license is spelled the same way “Issac” is spelled on the Backpage invoices. 

Further, the address listed on the Backpage invoice, 1309 Winkler Ave., is the same address listed 

on Williams’s driver’s license.  

 The three cell phones found in the hotel room and the four cell phones found in Williams’s 

car were admitted in evidence. “Device 1,” “Device 2,” “Device 6,” and “Device 7” were found 

in Williams’s car. “Device 3,” “Device 4,” and “Device 5” were found in the hotel room. Johnny 

Hirst, a former special agent with the Texas Department of Public Safety’s Criminal Investigations 

Division, testified he took photos of the hotel room and prepared a search warrant and affidavit for 
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the cell phones. All seven phones were sent to Christopher Hill of the Victoria Police Department’s 

Cyber Crimes Unit for analysis. 

 Hill testified Device 1 was a ZTE phone with the phone number (412) 596-4519. He could 

not download the phone because the software he uses to extract information was not supported by 

the device. He did take several photos of the contents of the phone, which were admitted in 

evidence.  

 Device 2 was a black Cricket Samsung. According to Hill, Device 2 no longer had a 

working phone number, but at one point used the same SIM card as Device 4 and thus the same 

phone number of (254) 245-2663. Hill was able to recover call log contacts, a timeline, a user 

dictionary, and some data files from Device 2.  

 Device 6 was a Samsung Galaxy S5. According to Hill, Device 6 was associated with two 

numbers: (254) 285-77887 and (254) 393-5060.8 Hill testified Devices 5 and 6 both had the phone 

number (254) 393-5060 at some point because they used the same SIM card. Hill was able to do a 

complete download on this phone, which was admitted in evidence. The exhibits containing the 

download of contents from the phone reflected messages were sent to the phone from someone 

who called himself “Issac from fb.” A message dated December 18, 2013 from “Issac” stated, “I’m 

right here, and I’m ready to be there for you.” Further, a TxTag toll account on the phone had the 

billing address of 1309 Winkler Ave, Apartment 838, Killeen, Tx, which was Williams’s home 

address. The phone listed the contact “Kandy” as (254) 245-2663.9 There was also a contact listed 

in the phone as krobin209@yahoo.com. Issac Williams’s email was listed as a contact in the phone 

as tailz286@gmail.com. B.F. was listed as a contact with two phone numbers: (978) 533-4697 and 

(254) 393-5060. Kandy was listed as a contact with two phone numbers: (254) 449-1764 and (254) 

                                                 
7 Williams testified this was his phone number. 
8 B.F. testified this was her phone number. 
9 Hill testified Device 4 is associated with this phone number. 
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245-2663. The internet history of the phone’s browser showed that on July 29, 2014, a Backpage 

ad was accessed by the phone and purchased using the phone. 

 Device 7 was a Motorola flip phone. According to Hill, the phone number associated with 

this phone was (254) 449-1764. Because Device 7 did not support the software Hill used to do a 

forensic analysis, he was not able to download the phone. However, he did take pictures of the 

contents of the phone. Hill found a contact for “Lee” with the phone number (254) 393-5060.10 A 

message was sent to Lee from Device 7 stating, “Well, wait. She got one.” Hill also found 

communications between Device 7 and (254) 245-2663.  

 According to Hill, the phone number (254) 245-2663 was associated with Device 4, which 

was a Samsung Galaxy S4 found inside the hotel room. Thus, Hill testified a phone found in 

Williams’s car was communicating with a phone found in the hotel room. The phone number (254) 

245-2663 was also the phone number listed for “Kandy” on the Backpage ads.11 When B.F. 

testified on direct examination, she stated this phone number belonged to Williams. However, on 

cross-examination, she stated that she did not know the phone number for Kandy (Deborah Ameia 

Cooper) and finally agreed that this number belonged to Kandy. Hill testified he was able to do a 

forensic analysis and retrieve text messages between this phone and (832) 263-6021, the number 

used by Agent Hallett in his undercover operation. 

 Also found in the hotel room was Device 3, a cell phone manufactured by Huawei. Hill 

testified this phone was associated with the phone number (254) 393-5059. According to Hill, he 

was not able to examine the contents of this phone because it was locked. He was able to examine 

the 8 GB micro SD card and SIM card on the phone, which had some call logs and contacts, but 

did not have any text messages. 

                                                 
10 B.F. testified this was her phone number. 
11 Device 6 had a contact for “Kandy” with this phone number. Hill testified Device 4 is associated with this phone 
number. 
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 Finally, the last phone found in the hotel room was Device 5, a phone manufactured by 

Alcatel and associated with (254) 393-5060. B.F. testified this was her phone number. According 

to Hill, he was not able to perform a forensic analysis on this phone because it had an active 

passcode. He was able, however, to retrieve some photos from the SIM card. Hill testified Device 

5, which was found in the hotel room, and Device 6, which was found in Williams’s car, have the 

same phone number. Hill concluded Devices 5 and 6 used the same SIM card at some point. 

 Sergeant Elizarde testified that a subpoena was also issued to Yahoo for the 

krobin209@yahoo.com email. The documents received in response show that “Kandy Robinson” 

was the person who created the email account on June 2, 2013. An alternate email associated with 

the account was tailz286@gmail.com.12 The alternate phone listed for the yahoo account was (254) 

245-2663. This was the phone number listed for “Kandy” on the Backpage ads and associated with 

Device 4, which was found in the hotel room. A second phone number listed on the Yahoo account 

was (254) 449-17641. This number has too many digits to be an accurate phone number; however, 

it is similar to the phone number for Device 7, which was (254) 449-1764. Device 7 was found in 

Williams’s car. B.F. testified that krobin209@yahoo.com was Williams’s email address. Williams 

testified it was Kandy’s email address. 

 During questioning, Sergeant Elizarde testified that there was a text message sent on July 

8, 2014 from Device 4, a phone found in the hotel room and associated with “Kandy,” to Device 

5, a phone also found in the hotel room and associated with B.F.’s phone number. The text message 

stated, “Make sure Issac doesn’t see you.” At trial, defense counsel argued this text message was 

evidence that (1) Device 4 was not Williams’s phone, but was Kandy’s phone, and (2) Kandy and 

B.F. were doing something they did not want Williams to know about.13 Additionally, defense 

                                                 
12 Williams testified this was his email address. According to Williams, he allowed Kandy to use his email address. 
13 During his testimony, Williams claimed he had no idea Kandy and B.F. had been prostituting themselves. 
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counsel, during questioning of Sergeant Elizarde, pointed out that before the date of this text 

message, none of the Backpage ads listed Issac Williams’s name. However, one month later, 

Williams’s name was listed on some of the Backpage ads. Thus, the defense argued the evidence 

showed Kandy and B.F. had a motive to falsify Williams’s name on the invoices because they 

were angry at him about something.  

 Finally, the State presented evidence of bail jumping on Williams’s part. Laurie Smith, the 

court coordinator for the 187th District Court, testified that Williams did not show up for a previous 

trial setting. The State argued the evidence of his bail jumping showed Williams’s consciousness 

of guilt.  

 Williams testified in his own defense. According to Williams, in November 2010, he was 

going to school in Pennsylvania to obtain his associate’s degree and was living with his aunt. He 

met Kandy (Deborah Ameia Cooper) through friends, and they had an on-and-off relationship. 

According to Williams, he completed his associate’s degree and found a job examining propane 

gases. However, in 2013, he was laid off and decided to return to Texas. Kandy moved with him, 

and in May 2013, they moved in with Williams’s father. Williams testified that in October 2013, 

he and Kandy leased their own apartment in Killeen. They met B.F. at a beauty supply store near 

both their and B.F.’s apartments. Williams testified that B.F. and Kandy bonded over a discussion 

about hair. They all became friends on Facebook. According to Williams, Kandy and B.F. were 

good friends and would go out a lot together. Williams claimed that B.F. did not live with him and 

Kandy, but was over a lot. Williams admitted that he flirted with B.F. on Facebook and later 

through text, but claimed that in December 2013 he blocked B.F. on Facebook. Williams testified 

B.F. became angry and claimed he was going to “pay” for blocking her.  

 Williams admitted that tailz286@gmail.com was his email address but claimed Kandy had 

access to it. He testified krobin209@yahoo.com was Kandy’s email address, which she used “to 
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do hair and stuff.” Williams was adamant that he never “pimped out” B.F. or Kandy. He also 

claimed he never met B.F. in person to recruit her.  

 According to Williams, in July 2014 he decided to move to Austin to find work, because 

his unemployment benefits were about to expire (he had not found a job since moving back to 

Texas). On August 1, 2014, he and Kandy moved to their new apartment in Austin. He testified 

B.F. came to Austin and picked up Kandy. They then went to Killeen together and stayed at the 

Sleep Inn. Williams testified he later drove to the Sleep Inn and spent time with Kandy; B.F. was 

not at the hotel, but later came into the room. Williams testified Kandy and B.F. wanted to smoke 

marijuana, and he left to visit a friend. He then returned to Austin. According to Williams, the next 

day, he drove back to Killeen to pick up Kandy at the hotel. When he arrived, Kandy, B.F., and 

B.F.’s boyfriend were in the hotel room. Williams testified Kandy “pulled [him] to the side” and 

gave him all these gift cards and credit cards. She told him B.F. was stealing from her and wanted 

Williams to keep the cards for her. According to Williams, he was then asked by B.F.’s boyfriend 

for a ride to the repair shop to pick up his car. Williams testified he then came back to the hotel to 

pick up Kandy. He tried to park, but the lot was full. He was trying to turn his car around to find 

another parking spot when “these guys run in front of my car at gunpoint” and stopped his car. 

Williams got out of the car and was immediately arrested. His person and his car were searched.  

The officers found four phones in Williams’s car. Two were found in his trunk and two 

were found inside the passenger compartment. Williams testified his phone number was (254) 285-

7788, which was associated with Device 6. Device 6 was found inside the passenger compartment 

of Williams’s car. Williams explained all the incriminating information found on Device 6 was a 

result of him and Kandy switching phones a few days before. According to Williams, they had 

“merged” their phones at the mobile phone store. Williams testified Kandy had four phones 

because she kept buying new ones and upgrading.  
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According to Williams, Device 7, the flip phone also found in the passenger compartment 

of his car, belonged to Kandy. When asked by the State how Device 4, a phone associated with 

“Kandy’s” number and found in the hotel room, could have been communicating that day with 

Device 7, Williams changed his testimony. He blamed B.F.’s boyfriend, whom Williams had given 

a ride. Williams testified Device 7 must have fallen out of the pocket of the boyfriend’s pants. 

Williams suspected that B.F.’s boyfriend was the one working with B.F. Williams claimed Kandy 

had told him B.F. and her boyfriend had been trying to recruit her, information Williams claimed 

he had not known at the time of the arrest but learned later. According to Williams, the boxes of 

condoms found in his trunk were his condoms. He pointed out that the condoms found in the hotel 

room were different than the ones he had in his trunk. 

Williams admitted that the messages on his phone the day of the arrest show that he was 

flirting with other women. But, Williams argued that he was only flirting and was not recruiting 

women for prostitution.  

After all the evidence was presented, Williams was found guilty of continuous trafficking 

of B.F. and was sentenced to fifty years of imprisonment. On appeal, he brings twenty-three issues. 

In particular, Williams argues in his ninth issue that the trial court erred in denying his request for 

an instruction on the lesser-included offense of human trafficking.  

ISSUE 9: JURY CHARGE-INSTRUCTIONS ON LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES 

 Williams was charged with the offense of continuous trafficking of persons from on or 

about December 22, 2013 through August 18, 2014. At trial, his requests for instructions on the 

lesser-included offenses of human trafficking, compelling prostitution, and prostitution were 

denied. Williams argues on appeal that he suffered harm as a result of the trial court’s failure to 

give the requested instructions. 
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 The court of criminal appeals has explained that the “purpose of liberally permitting 

charges on lesser-included offenses” is to prevent putting the jury in the predicament of choosing 

between two “equally distasteful” options, Bignall v. State, 887 S.W.2d 21, 24-25 (Tex. Crim. 

App. 1994), and thereby “uphold the integrity of the system,” Grey v. State, 298 S.W.3d 644, 656 

n.22 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009).  

If no charge [on the lesser-included offense] is given, then the jury has two options 
which are equally distasteful. The first option is to vote not guilty in a situation 
where they believe the defendant committed [the lesser offense]. The other option 
is to vote guilty of [the greater offense], an offense they believe the defendant did 
not commit. 

Eldred v. State, 578 S.W.2d 721, 723 (Tex. Crim. App. [Panel Op.] 1979), overruled in part by 

Hall v. State, 225 S.W.3d 524 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). 

 In determining whether the trial court erred in denying Williams’s requested instructions, 

we use a two-step analysis. Ritcherson v. State, No. PD-0021-17, 2018 WL 6519277, at *2 (Tex. 

Crim. App. Dec. 12, 2018) (citing Rousseau v. State, 855 S.W.2d 666, 672-73 (Tex. Crim. App. 

1993)). “First, we compare the elements and the facts of the offense alleged in the indictment with 

the elements of the potential lesser-included offense to determine whether the lesser-included 

offense is included within the proof necessary to establish the charged offense.” Munoz v. State, 

533 S.W.3d 448, 453 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 2017, pet. ref’d); see also Ritcherson, 2018 WL 

6519277, at *2. “This question is a matter of law and is not dependent on the evidence to be 

produced at trial.” Munoz, 533 S.W.3d at 453; see also Bullock v. State, 509 S.W.3d 921, 924 (Tex. 

Crim. App. 2016).   

 “Second, there must be evidence from which a rational jury could find the defendant guilty 

of only the lesser offense.” Ritcherson, 2018 WL 6519277, at *2 (citing Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 

925). “That requirement is met if there is (1) evidence that directly refutes or negates other 

evidence establishing the greater offense and raises the lesser-included offense or (2) evidence that 
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is susceptible to different interpretations, one of which refutes or negates an element of the greater 

offense and raises the lesser offense.” Id. (citing Saunders v. State, 840 S.W.2d 390, 391-92 (Tex. 

Crim. App. 1992)). “The evidence raising the lesser offense must be affirmatively in the record.” 

Id. “That is, a defendant is not entitled to a lesser-included offense instruction based on the absence 

of evidence, and the evidence must be ‘directly germane to the lesser-included offense.’” Id. 

(quoting Skinner v. State, 956 S.W.2d 532, 543 (Tex. Crim. App. 1997)).  

 “We consider all the evidence admitted at trial, not just the evidence presented by the 

defendant, and if there is more than a scintilla of evidence raising the lesser offense and negating 

or rebutting an element of the greater offense, the defendant is entitled to a lesser-charge 

instruction.” Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis added). “It does not matter whether the evidence is 

controverted or even credible.” Id.; see Banda v. State, 890 S.W.2d 42, 60 (Tex. Crim. App. 1994) 

(“The credibility of the evidence and whether it conflicts with other evidence or is controverted 

may not be considered in determining whether an instruction on a lesser-included offense should 

be given.”). 

A. First Step: Were any of Williams’s requested instructions lesser-included offenses of 
continuous trafficking of persons?  

 Article 37.09 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure provides that an offense is a lesser-

included offense if: 

(1) it is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to 
establish the commission of the offense charged; 

(2) it differs from the offense charged only in the respect that a less serious injury 
or risk of injury to the same person, property, or public interest suffices to 
establish its commission; 

(3) it differs from the offense charged only in the respect that a less culpable mental 
state suffices to establish its commission; or  

(4) it consists of an attempt to commit the offense charged or an otherwise included 
offense. 
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TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art. 37.09. Williams argues that human trafficking, compelling 

prostitution, and prostitution are lesser-included offenses of continuous trafficking of persons.  

 To traffic “means to transport, entice, recruit, harbor, provide, or otherwise obtain another 

person by any means.” TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 20A.01(4). As permitted by the indictment in 

this case, a person commits the offense of continuous trafficking of persons, “if, during a period 

that is 30 or more days in duration, the person engages two or more times in conduct that 

constitutes an offense under section 20A.02 [trafficking of persons] against one or more victims.” 

Id. § 20A.03(a). As applicable in this case, a person commits trafficking of persons if the person 

knowingly:  

(7) traffics a child and by any means causes the trafficked child to engage 
in, or become the victim of, conduct prohibited by . . . (H) Section 43.05 
(Compelling Prostitution); . . . or  

 
(8) receives a benefit from participating in a venture that involves an activity 
described by Subdivision (7) or engages in sexual conduct with a child 
trafficked in the manner described in Subdivision (7). 

Id. § 20A.02(a)(7)(H), (8). A “child” is defined as “a person younger than 18 years of age.” Id. 

§ 20A.01(1). Further, a person commits the offense of compelling prostitution “if the person 

knowingly . . . (2) causes another by any means a child younger than 18 years to commit 

prostitution, regardless of whether the actor knows the age of the child at the time of the offense.” 

Id. § 43.05(a)(2). Finally, a person commits prostitution if the person “knowingly offers or agrees 

to receive a fee from another to engage in sexual conduct.” Id. § 43.02(a).  

 As charged in this case, the only difference between the offenses of continuous trafficking 

of persons and trafficking of persons is that the offense of continuous trafficking of persons 

requires proof Williams, “during a period that is 30 or more days in duration,” engaged “two or 

more times in conduct that constitutes” trafficking of persons. Therefore, we conclude trafficking 

of persons is included within the proof necessary to establish the charged offense of continuous 
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trafficking of persons. See TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art. 37.09(1); Dukes v. State, No. 13-14-

00731-CR, 2016 WL 1393930, at *8 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi–Edinburg 2016, pet. ref’d) 

(mem. op., not designated for publication) (holding trafficking of persons within proof necessary 

to establish continuous trafficking of persons). Having satisfied the first step of the analysis, we 

now proceed to the second step.  

B. Second Step: Is there more than a scintilla of evidence from which a rational jury could 
find that Williams was guilty of only trafficking of persons and not continuous trafficking 
of persons?  

 
 The second step of the analysis requires us to examine the entire record and determine 

whether there is “more than a scintilla of evidence” to support the defendant’s request for the 

instruction on the lesser-included offense. Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 925. “Although this threshold 

showing is low, it is not enough that the jury may disbelieve crucial evidence pertaining to the 

greater offense, but rather there must be some evidence directly germane to the lesser-included 

offense for the finder of fact to consider before an instruction on a lesser-included offense is 

warranted.” Id. “However, we may not consider the credibility of the evidence and whether it 

conflicts with other evidence or is controverted.” Id. (citation omitted). “Accordingly, . . . the 

standard may be satisfied if some evidence refutes or negates other evidence establishing the 

greater offense or if the evidence presented is subject to different interpretations.” Id. (citation 

omitted).  

 In considering whether the lesser-included offense of trafficking of persons is a valid, 

rational alternative to the charged offense of continuous trafficking of persons, “we must compare 

the statutory requirements between the greater offense—here, [continuous trafficking of 

persons]—and the lesser offense—here, [trafficking of persons]—to determine whether evidence 

exists to support a conviction for [trafficking of persons] but not [continuous trafficking of 

persons].” Id. On appeal, Williams points to evidence that refutes the element required for 
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continuous trafficking of persons that the defendant committed trafficking of persons two or more 

times “during a period that is 30 or more days in duration.” See TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. 

§ 20A.03(a). Specifically, Williams points to evidence relating to the posting of Backpage ads, 

noting that his name appears only on a few ads that ran from July 20th to August 7th, a period of 

time less than thirty days.14  

 The thousands of pages of Backpage ads admitted as State’s Exhibit 1 show that all the ads 

were associated with the email krobin209@yahoo.com. The name and address on the invoices for 

almost all the ads was “kandy” at 123 Jake St., Killeen, Texas 76541. The dates on the ads range 

from December 9, 2013 to August 14, 2014. 

 “Issac Williams” with the address of 1309 Winkler Ave., Killeen, TX 76542 appears on 

the following invoices: 

(1) July 20, 2014, at 5:25 p.m. 

(2) July 20, 2014, at 10:01 p.m. 

(3) July 21, 2014, at 2:57 a.m. 

(4) July 30, 2014, at 10:32 a.m. 

(5) August 2, 2014, at 9:44 p.m. 

(6) August 3, 2014, at 12:53 a.m. 

(7) August 4, 2014, at 5:48 p.m. 

(8) August 4, 2014, at 8:15 p.m. 

                                                 
14 Williams also relies on excluded evidence showing he “was not engaging in this offense, if at all, every day from 
January 1, 2014 until August 19, 2014 as B.F. testified.” According to Williams, “[t]he excluded probation evidence 
established that B.F. was living at home until the end of May at the earliest.” Thus, Williams argues this excluded 
evidence established that if he “was trafficking B.F., he may have only done it in a period of time that was less than 
30 days.” However, Williams cannot rely on excluded evidence to support his argument that he was entitled to an 
instruction on a lesser-included offense; in making that determination, a court considers only evidence that was 
admitted. See Goad v. State, 354 S.W.3d 443, 446 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011) (explaining if the offense contained in the 
requested instruction is a lesser-included offense of the charged offense, the court must then “decide whether the 
admitted evidence supports the instruction”) (emphasis added). 
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(9) August 4, 2014, at 10:05 p.m. 

(10) August 5, 2014, at 1:25 a.m. 

(11) August 5, 2014, at 11:28 a.m. 

(12) August 5, 2014, at 4:06 p.m. 

Thus, there is some affirmative evidence that Issac Williams placed and purchased the Backpage 

ads from July 20th to August 5th, a period less than thirty days. Williams argues this is affirmative 

evidence from which a rational jury could find him guilty of only trafficking of persons.  

 In response, the State argues that the “fact that Williams’s name only appears [on] some of 

the ads does not negate other evidence establishing that he encouraged B.F. to engage in 

prostitution as early as December 2013 when he took her to a motel to meet Deborah Cooper 

[Kandy] and explained to her details of the prostitution business.” According to the State, the 

“evidence does not affirmatively negate that Williams took the pictures that featured both B.F. and 

Cooper [Kandy] in the Backpage ads.” “Nor does it affirmatively negate B.F.’s testimony that 

Williams drove her to motels where she had sex for money on every occasion.” We disagree with 

this analysis by the State. The affirmative evidence from which a rational jury could find Williams 

guilty of only trafficking of persons need not rebut all other evidence. It need only be “some 

evidence,” that is, more than a “scintilla,” “directly germane to the lesser-included offense for the 

finder of fact to consider.” Goad v. State, 354 S.W.3d 443, 446 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011). Moreover, 

a court “may not consider the credibility of the evidence and whether it conflicts with other 

evidence or is controverted,” id. at 446-47, because “a jury is permitted to believe or disbelieve 

any part of a witness’s testimony,” Bullock, 509 S.W.3d at 925. 

 In considering all the evidence presented at trial, we conclude there is more than a scintilla 

of evidence from which a rational jury could conclude Williams was guilty of only trafficking of 

persons and not continuous trafficking of persons. The Backpage ads relied on by Williams are 
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affirmative evidence directly germane to whether Williams trafficked B.F. for a period of more 

than thirty days. The Backpage ads are evidence from which a rational jury could conclude 

Williams was placing and posting ads in an effort to compel B.F. to commit prostitution from July 

20, 2014 to August 5, 2014, a period of less than thirty days. The jury could compare how the 

invoices were completed and conclude different people posted the ads. Between July 20, 2014 and 

August 5, 2014, “Issac Williams” at his home address was invoiced twelve times. During that same 

time period, “kandy” at a fake address was invoiced many more times than “Issac Williams.” 

Further, with regard to the ads placed before July 20, 2014 and after August 5, 2014, it was “kandy” 

again who was invoiced. Given the difference in how the ads were invoiced, the jury could have 

believed Williams posted only the ads where his name appears on the invoice and that someone 

else posted the other ads.  

 Additionally, the jury could infer from Kandy’s text message to B.F. on July 8, 2014, which 

instructed B.F. to “make sure Issac doesn’t see you,” that before July 20, 2014 (the date Williams’s 

name first appeared on the Backpage invoices), Kandy and B.F. were acting without Williams’s 

knowledge. The jury could also believe Williams’s testimony that Kandy and B.F. were acting 

without his knowledge during part of the period of time in question, but disbelieve his testimony 

that he did not know they were engaging in prostitution at the time of his arrest. The jury could 

also disbelieve the other evidence showing Williams was committing the offense for a period more 

than thirty days. Instead, the jury could believe it was Kandy, otherwise known as Deborah Ameia 

Cooper, who acting on her own was the person trafficking B.F. for the period of time before July 

20, 2014 and after August 5, 2014. In making this determination, the jury could rely on evidence 

showing that (1) “Kandy” appeared on almost all the ads; (2) Deborah Ameia Cooper was 

identified as “Kandy”; and (3) Kandy’s phone found in the hotel room contained text messages 

between her and Agent Hallett. The jury could also believe Williams’s testimony that the reason 
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his phone, which police found in his car, had incriminating evidence on it was because he had 

“merged” his phone with Kandy’s phone only a few days before the arrest at the Sleep Inn.  

The likelihood of the jury actually making these conclusions is immaterial to the issue of 

whether Williams was entitled to an instruction on the lesser-included offense of trafficking of 

persons. In Bignall, 887 S.W.2d at 24, the court of criminal appeals noted that the evidence relied 

on by the appellant, the testimony of an accomplice, was “suspect.” Nevertheless, the court 

emphasized that “the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses, and it does not matter 

whether the evidence is strong, weak, unimpeached or contradicted.” Id. (citing Booth v. State, 679 

S.W.2d 498, 500 (Tex. Crim. App. 1984)). Thus, the court held the trial court erred in failing to 

give the requested instruction on the lesser-included offense. Id.  

 Because (1) the only difference between continuous trafficking of persons and trafficking 

of persons is the time period of more than thirty days, and (2) the admitted Backpage ads and other 

testimony provide affirmative evidence showing Williams committed the offense for a period of 

less than thirty days, we hold Williams was entitled to an instruction on the lesser-included offense 

of trafficking of persons.  

C. Was Williams harmed by the trial court’s denial of his requested instruction on the lesser-
included offense of trafficking of persons? 

 We analyze harm regarding an erroneous refusal to give a requested instruction on a lesser-

included offense under the standard enunciated in Almanza v. State, 686 S.W.2d 157, 171 (Tex. 

Crim. App. 1985) (op. on reh’g). See Grey, 298 S.W.3d at 648. Because Williams preserved error 

by requesting the lesser-included instruction, we reverse the conviction if the denial of the 

instruction resulted in some harm to him. Cornet v. State, 417 S.W.3d 446, 449 (Tex. Crim. App. 

2013). “Some harm” means actual harm and “not just a theoretical complaint.” Id. at 449-50. In 

evaluating whether some harm exists, we “consider the totality of the record,” including the “entire 
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jury charge,” “the state of the evidence, including the contested issues and weight of probative 

evidence,” “the argument of counsel,” and “any other relevant information revealed by the record 

of the trial as whole.” Id. at 450.  

 When a lesser-included instruction is erroneously denied, the jury is also “denied the 

opportunity to consider the entire range of offenses presented by the evidence.” Saunders v. State, 

913 S.W.2d 564, 571 (Tex. Crim. App. 1995) (citation omitted). That is, when a lesser-included 

instruction raised by the evidence is denied, a jury, “believing the defendant to have committed 

some crime, but given only the option to convict him of a greater offense, may have chosen to find 

him guilty of that greater offense, rather than to acquit him altogether, even though it had a 

reasonable doubt he really committed the greater offense.” Id. (discussing rationale by Supreme 

Court in Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 634 (1980)). Thus, the court of criminal appeals has 

“routinely found ‘some’ harm, and therefore reversed, whenever the trial court has failed to submit 

a lesser included offense that was requested and raised by the evidence—at least where that failure 

left the jury with the sole option either to convict the defendant of the greater offense or to acquit 

him.” Id. According to the court, “‘some’ harm occurs because the jury was not permitted to fulfill 

its role as factfinder to resolve the factual dispute whether the defendant committed the greater or 

lesser offense.” Id.  

 Here, the jury charge permitted the jury to either convict Williams of continuous trafficking 

of persons or to acquit him altogether. Although Williams requested the lesser-included instruction 

on trafficking of persons and although there was some evidence to support the submission of 

trafficking of persons, the jury was “denied the opportunity to consider the entire range of offenses 

presented by the evidence.” Saunders, 913 S.W.2d at 571. Therefore, we conclude Williams 

suffered some harm by the trial court’s refusal to submit the lesser-included offense of trafficking 

of persons.  
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CONCLUSION 

 Because Williams was entitled to the lesser-included instruction on trafficking of persons 

and because he suffered some harm by its omission, we reverse the judgment of the trial court and 

remand the cause for a new trial.15  

Liza A. Rodriguez, Justice 
Publish 

                                                 
15 As none of Williams’s other twenty-two issues would require rendering a judgment of acquittal, having determined 
that Williams is entitled to a new trial, we need not reach the merits of those other twenty-two issues.  
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Fourth Court of Appeals 
San Antonio, Texas 

 
JUDGMENT 

 
No. 04-17-00815-CR 

 
Issac WILLIAMS, 

Appellant 
 

v. 
 

The STATE of Texas, 
Appellee 

 
From the 187th Judicial District Court, Bexar County, Texas 

Trial Court No. 2014CR8370B 
Honorable Joey Contreras, Judge Presiding 

 
BEFORE CHIEF JUSTICE MARION, JUSTICE ALVAREZ, AND JUSTICE RODRIGUEZ 

 
 In accordance with this court’s opinion of this date, the judgment of the trial court is 
REVERSED and this cause is REMANDED to the trial court for a new trial. 
 
 SIGNED April 10, 2019. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Liza A. Rodriguez, Justice 
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